
11-09-2021 
400 

 
 

Governing Body Minutes – November 9, 2021 

  CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, Topeka, Kansas, Tuesday, November 9, 2021.  The 

Governing Body members of the City of Topeka met in regular session at 6:00 P.M.  

  Public comment for the meeting was available via Zoom or in-person.  Individuals were 

required to contact the City Clerk's Office at 785-368-3940 or via email at cclerk@topeka.org by 

no later than 5:00 p.m. on November 9, 2021, after which the City Clerk's Office provided the 

Zoom link information and protocols prior to the meeting start time.  Written public comment 

was also considered to the extent it was personally submitted at the meeting or to the City Clerk's 

Office located at 215 SE 7th Street, Room 166, Topeka, Kansas, 66603 or via email at 

cclerk@topeka.org on or before November 9, 2021, for attachment to the meeting minutes. 

  At 6:05 p.m. Mayor De La Isla recessed the Governing Body meeting due to technical 

difficulties. 

  At 6:42 p.m. the Governing Body reconvened into open session with the following 

Councilmembers present:  Councilmembers Hiller, Ortiz, Emerson, Padilla, Dobler, Duncan and 

Lesser - 7.  Mayor De La Isla presided  - 1.  Absent:  Councilmembers Valdivia-Alcala and 

Naeger - 2.   

 AFTER THE MEETING was called to order, Mayor De La Isla, provided the invocation. 

 THE PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE was recited by meeting participants. 

BOARD APPOINTMENT recommending the reappointment of Frank Burnam to the 

Topeka Public Building Commission for a term ending November 15, 2025. (Council District 

No. 4) 

mailto:cclerk@topeka.org
mailto:cclerk@topeka.org


11-09-2021 
401 

 
 

Councilmember Emerson moved to approve the board appointment.  The motion 

seconded by Councilmember Padilla carried unanimously on roll call vote.  The Mayor does not 

vote.  (7-0-0) 

Mayor De La Isla announced due to the delayed meeting start time, changes were being 

proposed to the agenda.  She stated the proposed changes are to remove the following agenda 

items from the November 9, 2021 agenda and place them on the November 16, 2021 agenda:  

• Item 3. City of Topeka Financial 3rd Quarter Report Presentation 
• Item 6B. Discussion regarding the Citizens Advisory Council Ordinance 
• Item 6D.  Discussion regarding the Topeka DREAMS Grant Awardees   
• Item 6E. Discussion regarding the America Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) Funding 
 
Councilmember Naeger joined the meeting remotely.  
 
Councilmember Ortiz moved to approve the changes to the November 9, 2021 agenda as 

stated Mayor De La Isla.  The motion seconded by Councilmember Dobler carried unanimously 

on roll call vote. (9-0-0) 

CONSENT AGENDA was presented as follows:  

APPROVAL of a Utilities contract between the City of Topeka and A.W. Schultz, Inc. in 

the amount of $613,660 to provide electrical control system design, construction, and installation 

for SCADA Pump Station Programmable Logic Controller Upgrades Project T-291097.01, was 

presented.  (Contract No. 49917) 

ORDINANCE NO. 20324 introduced by City Manager Brent Trout, allowing and 

approving City expenditures for the period August 28, 2021 through September 24, 2021, and 

enumerating said expenditures therein, was presented. 

MINUTES of the regular meeting of October 19, 2021, was presented. 

Councilmember Naeger moved to approve the consent agenda. The motion seconded by 

Councilmember Ortiz carried unanimously on roll call vote.  (9-0-0) 



11-09-2021 
402 

 
 

Councilmember Valdivia-Alcala joined the meeting remotely. 

ORDINANCE NO. 20325 introduced by City Manager Brent Trout, pertaining to an 

amendment to the text and map of the Topeka Comprehensive Plan for the Valley Park 

Neighborhood Plan, was presented. (CPA 21/01) 

Brent Trout, City Manager, reported the Valley Park Neighborhood Plan was discussed on 

October 19, 2021, and Staff recommends approval. 

Councilmember Naeger moved to adopt the ordinance.  The motion was seconded by 

Councilmember Emerson carried unanimously on roll call vote.  (10-0-0)    

The ordinance was adopted on roll call vote as follows:  Ayes: Hiller, Valdivia-Alcala, 

Ortiz, Emerson, Padilla, Naeger, Dobler, Duncan, Lesser and Mayor De La Isla -10. 

APPROVAL of a Utilities contract amendment between the City of Topeka and Bartlett 

and West, Inc. in the amount of $1,419,738 to amend and add Design Services and Construction 

Manager at Risk (CMAR) Selection and Coordination for the North Topeka Nutrient Removal 

Project T-291106.00, was presented.  (Contract No. 49929) 

Brent Trout, City Manager, stated approval of consulting contracts over $50,000 would 

normally be placed on the consent agenda; however, due to the significant changes to the overall 

project budget it was placed on the agenda as an action item. 

Braxton Copley, Director of Utilities, provided an overview of the changes mandated by 

the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the Kansas Department of Health and 

Environment (KDHE).  He stated the request would cover design costs; however, in 

approximately two years Staff would be requesting an additional approximate amount of $1 

million for construction administration services.  He reported by adjusting to a design (build) 

process it allows the City to achieve permit requirements in terms of completion by 2023, and 



11-09-2021 
403 

 
 

full permit compliance by 2024.  He noted the original Capital Improvement Plan budget for the 

project would have to be amended to include an additional $10.8 million to the original $6.3 

million project cost bid in 2012. 

Councilmember Valdivia-Alcala stated she reviewed the support documentation and 

supports the contract amendment. 

Councilmember Valdivia-Alcala moved to approve the contract amendment.  The motion 

was seconded by Councilmember Lesser.   

Councilmember Dobler stated he will abstain from the vote due to his employer Bartlett 

& West Engineers, Inc. being involved in the project. 

Councilmember Duncan spoke in support of the project and stated he understands the 

necessity; however, he remains frustrated with outdated project bids.  He strongly encouraged 

Staff to again review project bids that are ten years or older and to include those updated 

numbers in the next CIP.  He asked for clarification if the additional $1 million that would be 

requested next year was included as part of the total project budget. 

Braxton Copley stated the additional $1 million is included in the total project cost of 

$17.1 million.  He stated Staff is currently developing the CIP budget to present in 2022, at 

which time, a determination will have to be made as to how the project would be funded. 

Councilmember Duncan stated because none of the $10.8 million is currently included in 

the CIP he would like to have conversations on creative ways to fund the project so it will not 

affect the City’s bonding cap.  He noted the City has the authority to create a public building 

commission pursuant to State law.  He asked if the Construction Manager is considered the final 

contractor. 

Braxton Copley stated the Construction Manager at Risk will be the contractor that will 



11-09-2021 
404 

 
 

be selected through the RFP process in order to incorporate them into the design team.  He stated 

typically, the contractor would be selected based on the low bid. 

Councilmember Naeger asked if the recently approved Federal Infrastructure Investment 

and Jobs Act (IIJA) would provide funding assistance for the project.   

Braxton Copley stated it was possible; however, no details have been released on how the 

IIJA funds could be spent or the funding mechanism. 

Councilmember Hiller stated they will have an opportunity to consider using ARPA and 

IIJA funds in order to offset the project cost. 

Councilmember Emerson spoke in support of the contract amendment and thanked 

Utilities Director Copley and Staff for their foresight on the project. 

The motion to approve the contract amendment carried on roll call vote.  Councilmember 

Dobler abstained.  (9-0-1)    

DISCUSSION concerning a Resolution of Intent authorizing the issuance of Industrial 

Revenue Bonds (IRBs) in the amount of $10,000,000 to facilitate the acquisition and renovation 

of the former Topeka Holidome located at 605 S.W. Fairlawn Avenue, Topeka, Kansas, was 

presented. 

Brent Trout, City Manager, reported Flywheel Fairlawn, LLC is requesting that the City 

issue Industrial Revenue Bonds (IRBs) to facilitate its acquisition and renovation of the former 

Topeka Holidome to use as workforce rental housing with approximately 140 units of multi-

family housing.  He stated the property will be exempt from property taxes for 10 years if the 

City issues IRBs. 

George Meier, Flywheel Capital, LLC, stated his company owns 605 SW Fairlawn 

Avenue.  He stated they are working on redeveloping the property from a hotel to workforce 



11-09-2021 
405 

 
 

housing to include studio, one bedroom and two bedroom apartments.  He noted amenity spaces 

such as a fitness center and office area will be added.  He stated the project cost is $10.5 million 

with $5.5 million in hard construction costs.  He stated the average rent will be $670 a month per 

unit, which aligns with the Topeka Housing Study completed in July of 2020.   

Councilmember Naeger asked what type of lessors they are seeking to attract and stated 

she looks forward to seeing new development and the investment in the community. 

George Meier stated their focus lines up with the housing study, which would be 

construction workers or warehouse workers. 

Councilmember Hiller asked Mr. Meier to provide more details on the cost of rent and if 

utility costs would be included as part of the rent payment.  She also asked if there will be other 

amenities located on the property. 

George Meier stated the studio apartment will rent for approximately $540 and a small 

portion of the rent will go towards the electric and gas bill, and the one bedroom units will cost 

approximately $750.  He stated the existing restaurant will be used, some space will be converted 

to a business center, there will be a fitness center, storage, and the ballroom area will be removed 

and a courtyard with grass will be constructed.  

Mayor De La Isla stated typically 31% of an individual’s income should go towards rent; 

therefore, someone that earns approximately $2,200 a month of income should be able to afford 

the apartments. 

DISCUSSION regarding the City's 2022 legislative priorities for the City's lobbyist to 

address and monitor during the 2022 Legislative Session, was presented. 

Whitney Damron, P.A., City of Topeka Lobbyist, reported on the following items that 

were identified as legislative priorities in consultation with City Manager Brent Trout: 



11-09-2021 
406 

 
 

• Primary Issues: Support the construction of a new lab for KDHE to be located on the 
grounds of the Kansas Neurological Institutes (KNI) and Docking State Office Building 
redevelopment; the Polk-Quincy Viaduct Project; Study of Taxation and Exemption 
Issues;  and Abandoned Housing. 

• Secondary Issues: Hi-Crest Community area for economic development program; Topeka 
Police Department to review K.S.A. 22-2512 regarding firearms; and the Regulation of 
Firearms.  

• League of Kansas Municipalities (LKM):  The League has finalized its 2022 Statement of 
Municipal Policy and at this writing, major issues for the League in 2022 include: 
- Property Taxes - Dark Store Theory.  
- Home Rule Authority.  
- Government Competition (e.g., Post Audit Study referenced herein). City/County Tax 

Revenue Sharing.  
- Recodification of the Uniform Traffic Code.  
- Continued consideration of Mental Health Funding and Programs. 

 
Councilmember Lesser asked what the process and possibilities are in regards to 

Governor Kelly’s proposal to eliminate the food sales tax. 

Whitney Damron stated the topic of trying to reduce the sales tax on food has been 

around for years and Governor Kelly would like to reduce the food sales tax when the State has a 

more firm financial footing.  He stated the Governor has not indicated how the sales tax 

reduction would be paid for; however, she would prefer that existing funds be used so the State 

can absorb the cost.  He noted there will also be interesting debate on how the State plans to 

address the possible COVID-19 vaccine mandate from the Federal government which may have 

an effect on how the food sales tax elimination plan moves forward.  

Joseph Ledbetter stated the City seems to have a wide net each year regarding its 

legislative priorities.  He asked the Governing Body to make solid decisions on what they would 

like their legislative priorities to be and he would support it.  He spoke in support of the KDHE 

lab remaining in the city of Topeka.   

Councilmember Duncan stated the City of Topeka should support the reduction in food 

sales tax and they do not have to provide guidance on what that plan looks like. He stated some 



11-09-2021 
407 

 
 

of the issues listed are supported by the City; however, the document does not recap the City’s 

position on the issue.  He inquired on the abandoned houses issue and if the City plans to 

introduce legislation in order to move forward with the process.  He encouraged the Governing 

Body to coordinate efforts so they have definitive answers for Mr. Damron on important issues.  

He asked about the K.S.A. in regards to what can be done with firearms used in a crime and if 

someone is pushing legislation that the City would like to support or is the Topeka Police 

Department asking the Governing Body to generate legislation to make that change. 

Whitney Damron stated the item was a suggestion that came up at the time the report was 

created; however, since that time, he has received information from a number of law enforcement 

agencies that the matter may not be pursued in 2022. 

Mayor De La Isla suggested the Governing Body create a standing committee that would 

meet annually to discuss and determine the City’s annual legislative priorities prior to the State 

Legislature meeting each year. 

Councilmember Duncan stated he believes the Policy and Finance Committee could serve 

in this capacity. 

Whitney Damron reported the challenge with the abandoned housing issue is to create a 

bill that can be defended and advanced while protecting private property owner rights as well as 

protect the interests of neighborhoods and municipalities. 

Councilmember Hiller stated she believes the City has a resolution or policy that states 

the Governing Body should address the legislative agenda in October of each year.  She stated 

some of the issues on the list need to be discussed by the Governing Body in coordination with 

the Greater Topeka Partnership. She commented on events that she believes transpired as it 

relates to the City’s position of support on the plans for the Docking Building.  She referenced 



11-09-2021 
408 

 
 

the KDHE building location issue and encouraged Staff to review the food sales tax numbers and 

how it would affect the City.  She suggested the City to optimize ARPA and IIJA funds in order 

to be competitive; and the State maintain the right-of-way for highways and interstates and 

suggested it be added to an administrative advocacy agenda.  She spoke in support of the 

abandoned housing issue being addressed. 

Councilmember Valdivia-Alcala stated she agrees with many of the comments made by 

Councilmembers Duncan and Hiller.  She urged the City to not only utilize their Lobbyist to the 

full extent but to also utilize the relationship with the Shawnee County Delegation to move items 

forward, specifically the abandoned housing issue.  She asked if the Governing Body could be 

provided the details on what percentage the City receives from food sales tax in order to answer 

questions from constituents. 

Councilmember Lesser referenced comments made by Councilmember Hiller regarding 

the Docking Building and the statement that the City and the Governing Body as a whole support 

the Governor’s plan. 

Councilmember Hiller stated the information came from some advocacy she was 

involved with that included Downtown Topeka, Inc. (DTI) and the Greater Topeka Partnership 

(GTP) back in April 2021, where meeting discussions took place about Governor Kelly’s 

preference and noted the City was involved in those discussions. 

Councilmember Lesser stated he understands how the message could have been 

misconstrued; however, he was not a participant in any of the meetings she referenced, and to 

say that the Governing Body as whole supports the Governor’s plan for the Docking Building 

would be an inaccurate statement.  

Councilmember Hiller agreed more conversation needs to take place about the Docking 



11-09-2021 
409 

 
 

Building. 

Brent Trout stated the Shawnee County Delegation meeting will be held on December 9, 

2021, and the City’s priorities need to be determined by that date.  He reported priorities can be 

discussed and determined through the committee process and then considered for action at the 

December 7, 2021, Governing Body meeting. 

In closing, Whitney Damron stated the Shawnee County Delegation remains very much 

engaged in the new lab for KDHE and Docking Building issues.  He noted the Shawnee County 

Delegation along with other community partners (DTI and GTP) support KNI staying in Topeka 

as well as the Docking Building is included in the budget. 

Councilmember Duncan announced that he would work to schedule a Policy and Finance 

Committee meeting the week of November 29, 2021, in order to ensure the 2022 Legislative 

Priorities are considered at the December 7, 2021 Governing Body meeting.   

PUBLIC COMMENT was submitted via email (Attachment A) by Lyndsey and TK 

Adams, Louis Weishaar, Marie Hall, Sally Kahle, Judy Miller, Marilyn Waugh and Joseph 

Ledbetter.  The following individuals provided public comment:  

Sandra Lassiter thanked City Manager Trout for his hard work and dedication to Topeka.  

She stated she believes there may be someone who resides in the city that would be qualified to 

serve at the next City Manager. 

PJ Carter stated it has been over a year since police reform has been discussed at a 

Governing Body meeting.  He referenced the City Manager position opening and the need to 

place a qualified person in the position that has the experience to help move the community 

forward.  He referenced the lack of transparency in the recent Police Chief Candidate 

interviewing process and encouraged the City to partner with the community and work to build 



11-09-2021 
410 

 
 

trust. 

ANNOUNCEMENTS BY THE CITY MANAGER, MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE 

COUNCIL;  

Kelly Bogner, Assistant City Clerk, provided an overview of the November 16, 2021, 

Governing Body meeting agenda. 

Brent Trout, City Manager, invited the public to attend an Open House on November 10, 

2021 at 6:00 p.m. at the Cyrus K. Holliday building located at 620 SE Madison Street to meet the 

four Topeka Police Chief candidates. 

Councilmember Naeger thanked military veterans for their service. 

Councilmember Duncan congratulated incumbent and newly elected Governing Body 

members.  He also recognized all candidates that ran for office and thanked them for their 

interest in the community. 

Councilmember Lesser thanked his constituents for allowing him to serve another term 

and commended his opponent Gregory Bland, Jr.  for a respectful campaign.  He stated he looks 

forward to working with Mr. Bland in the future.  He expressed his disappointment with the 

inappropriate campaign flyers that were distributed in certain Council Districts. 

Councilmember Hiller congratulated her colleagues that won the election and thanked all 

candidates that ran in the election and those who voted.  She recognized Mayor De La Isla, 

Deputy Mayor Padilla and Shawnee County Commissioner Kevin Cook for speaking at the 2021 

State of Community Address. 

Councilmember Valdivia-Alcala announced an initiative where a press conference was 

held at Community Resources Council Care Center at Lundgren Elementary School hosted by 

Topeka Habitat for Humanity introducing the House to Home Program.  She encouraged 



11-09-2021 
411 

 
 

everyone to stay vigilant in protecting themselves from the COVID-19 virus as numbers 

continue to rise with breakthrough cases. 

Councilmember Ortiz recognized her opponent Regina Platt and thanked her constituents 

for re-electing her.  She thanked the military veterans for their service and commended the 

Topeka Habitat for Humanity for their work in the community.   

Councilmember Emerson expressed his appreciation with the outcome of the elections.   

Councilmember Padilla stated he attended the new House to Home Program press 

conference and announced that the program is the only one like it in the nation.  He stated he 

attended the Veterans Day Parade held on November 6, 2021, and expressed his appreciation to 

veterans for their sacrifice and encouraged everyone to work hard for them in the community.  

He congratulated those who ran for office and incoming Councilmember elect Brett Kell.  He 

encouraged all candidates to remain involved in the community.   

Mayor De La Isla stated running for office is taxing for the candidates and their families.  

She thanked all the candidates and encouraged them to remain engaged in the community.  She 

thanked veterans for their service. 

Councilmember Emerson  moved to recess into executive session for a period of 30 

minutes to discuss matters related to an individual employee, pursuant to KSA 75-

4319(b)(1).   To aid in the discussion, the following individuals were present: Members of the 

Governing Body, City Manager, Brent Trout; City Attorney, Amanda Stanley; and Human 

Resources Director, Jacque Russell.  No action was anticipated when the meeting resumed open 

session in the City Council Chambers.  The motion was seconded by Councilmember Dobler.   

Mayor De La Isla asked all those in favor of recessing into executive session to indicate 

so verbally by saying “yea” and those opposing to indicate so verbally by saying “no.”  After the 



11-09-2021 
412 

 
 

voice vote occurred, Mayor De La Isla announced the motion carried unanimously on voice vote.  

(10-0-0) 

Following a 30-minute time period, the meeting reconvened into open session and Mayor 

De La Isla announced no action was taken during the executive session.   

Councilmember Padilla  moved to recess into executive session for a period of 15 

minutes to continue the discussion on matters related to an individual employee, pursuant to 

KSA 75-4319(b)(1).   To aid in the discussion, the following individuals were present: Members 

of the Governing Body, City Manager, Brent Trout; City Attorney, Amanda Stanley; and Human 

Resources Director, Jacque Russell.  No action was anticipated when the meeting resumed open 

session in the City Council Chambers.  The motion was seconded by Councilmember Naeger.   

Mayor De La Isla asked all those in favor of recessing into executive session to indicate 

so verbally by saying “yea” and those opposing to indicate so verbally by saying “no.”  After the 

voice vote occurred, Mayor De La Isla announced the motion carried on voice vote.  (10-0-0) 

Following a 15-minute time period, the meeting reconvened into open session and Mayor 

De La Isla announced no action was taken during the executive session.   

Councilmember Padilla moved to direct the City Attorney to negotiate and execute a 

separation and six month consulting agreement with City Manager Brent Trout to facilitate the 

transition. The motion was seconded by Councilmember Naeger. 

Mayor De La Isla reported City Manager Brent Trout submitted his resignation to the 

Governing Body on November 4, 2021, and it is the duty of the Governing Body to accept the 

resignation and determine the parameters.  She stated the Governing Body has decided to retain 

Brent Trout under a contract for services through a transition period of six months.  



11-09-2021 
413 

 
 

Mayor De La Isla asked all those in favor of approving the City Attorney to negotiate and 

execute a contract to indicate so verbally by saying “yea” and those opposing to indicate so 

verbally by saying “no.”  After the voice vote occurred, Mayor De La Isla announced the motion 

carried on voice vote.  Councilmember Valdivia-Alcala abstained.  (9-0-1) 

NO FURTHER BUSINESS appearing the meeting adjourned at 9:30 p.m. 

 
 
  (SEAL)     ___________________________ 

Brenda Younger   
 City Clerk 






























